JAN 28 2020

### NO. S258191

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Deputy

GERARDO VAZQUEZ, GLORIA ROMAN, and JUAN AGUILAR, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated,

Petitioners,

VS.

JAN-PRO FRANCHISING INTERNATIONAL, INC. *Respondent.* 

Review of Certified Question from the Ninth Circuit (Ninth Circuit Case No. 17-16096)

On Appeal from N.D. Cal. Case No. 3:16-cv-05961

Before the Honorable William Alsup

### **OPENING BRIEF OF PETITIONERS**

SHANNON LISS-RIORDAN
(SBN 310719)
Lichten & Liss-Riordan, P.C.
729 Boylston Street, Suite 2000
Boston, MA 02116
Telephone: (617) 994-5800
Facsimile: (617) 994-5801
sliss@llrlaw.com

### **QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

On September 24, 2019, pursuant to California Rule of Court 8.548, the Ninth Circuit certified for review to this Court in *Vazquez v. Jan-Pro Franchising International, Inc.* (9th Cir. 2019) 939 F.3d 1045, 1046, the following issue:

- 1. Does the Court's decision in *Dynamex Operations West Inc.* 
  - v. Superior Court (2018) 4 Cal.5th 903, apply retroactively?

In addition to this certified question, this case raises several other extremely important and pressing issues of law concerning the correct application of the *Dynamex* decision. These issues have each resulted in conflicting decisions among the state and federal courts, and so Petitioners urge the Court to address these questions as well:

- 2. Does *Dynamex* apply in determining whether a franchisee has been misclassified as an independent contractor and thereby suffered alleged wage-and-hour violations?<sup>1</sup>
- 3. Does *Dynamex* apply in determining whether an entity is a joint employer?<sup>2</sup>
- 4. Does *Dynamex* apply to claims brought under Cal. Lab. Code. § 2802?<sup>3</sup>

The parties have jointly requested that the Court take up this question. *See* Joint letter submitted by the parties October 25, 2019, pursuant to Cal. Rule of Court 8.548(f)(1).

Plaintiffs have separately requested that the Court take up this question. *See* Petitioners' separate letter submitted October 25, 2019.

Plaintiffs have separately requested that the Court take up this question. *See* Petitioners' separate letter submitted October 25, 2019.

### INTRODUCTION

In April 2018, this Court issued a unanimous, 82-page decision in *Dynamex Operations West, Inc. v. Superior Court* (2018) 4 Cal.5th 903, announcing the adoption of the Massachusetts ABC test as clarification of the "suffer or permit" employment test previously set forth by this Court in *Martinez v. Combs* (2010) 49 Cal.4th 35. Since then, employers across California have sought to cabin the impact of the decision, for example by arguing it should not be given retroactive effect and that it should not apply in various employment contexts (such as, when workers are classified as "franchisees" or when workers are directly contracted by intermediary entities) or to claims brought forth under the Labor Code (particularly § 2802) – results that clearly run counter to, and threaten to undermine, this Court's analysis in *Dynamex*.

In *Dynamex*, this Court emphasized, repeatedly, the high stakes of selecting the correct standard in order to forward the remedial purpose of California wage law and effectuate basic legal rights and protections afforded to workers under the law. *Dynamex*, 4 Cal.5th at 954-58. The California state legislature has now doubled down on the importance of this Court's decision in *Dynamex*, with the passage of 2019 California Assembly Bill No. 5, California 2019-2020 Regular Session, ("A.B. 5"), which codifies the ABC test to the maximum extent permitted by law in order to further protect workers, competing businesses, and the public at large, as *Dynamex* intended. *See* A.B. 5, Section 1.

At the core of this Court's decision in *Dynamex* is the need to forward the remedial purpose of California wage legislation.

Misclassification, franchising, and other forms of fissured employment are all recognized threats to this aim, as this Court acknowledged in *Dynamex*. *See Dynamex*, 4 Cal. App. 5th at 957-58 (citing DAVID WEIL, THE

FISSURED WORKPLACE: WHY WORK BECAME SO BAD FOR SO MANY AND WHAT CAN BE DONE TO IMPROVE IT (2014) pp. 204-05). Nowhere in the decision are the suggestions that employers now conjure, that the test should only be applied narrowly, that it does not apply to various Labor Code claims, that it does not apply in a fissured workplace context (including in the franchise and joint employment contexts), and that it created such a huge break with prior law that it should not apply retroactively.

This case typifies the exact scenario the Court's decision in Dynamex intended to address. Petitioners here are low-wage cleaning workers, laboring in an industry in which the fissured employment model is prevalent and workplace violations are rampant. See discussion infra Argument, Part II.C. Jan-Pro has deployed a "franchise" model, and has divided it into three tiers, as a subterfuge in order to evade employer liability, ensure that workers do not receive the protections of the Labor Code, and require that workers actually have pay for their jobs (something that the Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court, in a case where cleaning franchise workers who were determined to be misclassified under the ABC test, held violates public policy, see Awuah v. Coverall North America, Inc. (2011) 460 Mass. 484, 498). As a result, this case (like many cases now analyzed under *Dynamex*, particularly in the hotly litigated area of whether "gig economy" workers have been misclassified) centers on reimbursement claims brought forth pursuant to Cal. Lab. Code § 2802. This denial of Labor Code protections (and charging workers for their jobs) enables Jan-Pro (like so many employers across California) to set bottom-of-the barrel prices that its law-abiding competitors cannot afford to compete with, thereby depressing labor standards generally. These are the exact concerns that animated this Court's decision in *Dynamex*, 4 Cal.5th at 952-53.

The questions raised in this case reflect the unsettled case law spawned by employer attempts to defend against *Dynamex* in the nearly two years since it was issued. But the Dynamex decision, and now its sweeping codification in the form of A.B. 5, counsels against such confinement of its impact. In keeping with the Court's declarations and underlying policy rationale set forth in the *Dynamex* opinion, this Court should clarify that: (1) Dynamex applies retroactively, in accordance with the usual rule that judicial decisions clarifying existing law are given retroactive effect, see Newman v. Emerson Radio Corp. (1989) 48 Cal.3d 973, 978 (see Part I); (2) no special or different test should apply for franchisors facing wage violation claims, as courts in a number of states across the country have held (see Part II); (3) the ABC test, which clarified the "suffer or permit" employment test in a joint employment case, should be applied in the joint employment context (see Part III); and (4) Dynamex teaches that the remedial purpose of the legislation at issue determines the applicable standard to apply to the question of employment status, which for purposes of the Cal. Lab. Code § 2802 is the ABC test (see Part IV).

These questions are interrelated. Not only are they all central to the resolution of this case but resolving one while leaving the others unaddressed leaves open escape hatches that employers will continue to exploit in the face of unsettled law. California workers, competitors, and the public at large, will continue to suffer as long as employers are able to evade their obligations under the wage law, and *Dynamex*'s purpose will be undercut and its analysis weakened. It is therefore vital for this Court to settle these (unsettled) questions of state law in the wake of *Dynamex*, in order to enforce the California labor standards and thus "enable [workers] to provide at least minimally for themselves and their families and to accord them a modicum of dignity and self-respect," as this Court intended. *Dynamex*, 4 Cal.5th at 952.

### **FACTUAL BACKGROUND**

Petitioners Gerardo Vazquez, Gloria Roman, and Juan Aguilar claim that Jan-Pro Franchising International, Inc. ("Jan-Pro") misclassified them as independent contractor "franchisees" and, as a result, Petitioners suffered wage and hour violations. *Vazquez v. Jan-Pro Franchising International, Inc.* (9th Cir.) No. 17-16096, ECF Dkt. No. 13 (Appellant's Opening Br.) at 5.4 Petitioners were required to pay thousands of dollars in "franchise fees" in order to obtain cleaning jobs<sup>5</sup>; had unlawful deductions taken from their pay; were not paid overtime for hours worked in excess of 40 hours a week or 8 hour a day; and were not guaranteed minimum wage for their cleaning work. *Id.* at 5-6.

As the Ninth Circuit's opinion acknowledges, this litigation is borne out of *Depianti v. Jan-Pro Franchising Int'l, Inc.* (1st Cir. 2017) 873 F. 3d 21, which began in Massachusetts back in 2008. *Vazquez v. Jan-Pro Franchising International, Inc.* (9th Cir. 2019) 923 F.3d 575, 579, *reh'g granted opinion withdrawn*, 930 F.3d 1107, and *on reh'g*, 939 F.3d 1045, and *opinion reinstated in part on reh'g*, 939 F.3d 1050. Because the issues certified do not involve those related to the *Depianti* litigation in either Massachusetts or Georgia (and therefore do not implicate Jan-Pro's res judicata and law of the case arguments), *see Jan-Pro*, 923 F. 3d at 586-88, this brief limits the factual and procedural background to that before this Court.

Having been determined to be employees under the Massachusetts ABC test that was adopted by this Court in *Dynamex*, the Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court held that requiring cleaning workers to pay for their jobs, under the guise of being independent contractor franchisees, violates Massachusetts wage law. *Awuah v. Coverall North America, Inc.* (2011) 460 Mass. 484, 497-98 ("paying for the privilege of going to work, and paying more the more urgently the job is needed, not only keeps people unnecessarily unemployed, but seems foreign to the spirit of American freedom and opportunity") (quoting *Adam v. Tanner* (1917) 244 U.S. 590, 604 (Brandeis, J., dissenting)). Petitioners seek the same result in this case under California law.

In order to justify the classification of cleaning workers as independent contractors, Jan-Pro describes itself as being in "the business of franchising." *Jan-Pro*, 923 F. 3d at 581. It has also structured itself in a multi-tiered model, through which it does not contract directly with the cleaners, but instead contracts through intermediaries that it calls "master franchisees". *Id*.

However, it is Jan-Pro that established the entire system under which the cleaning workers must be classified as independent contractors and pay thousands of dollars to obtain their cleaning work (and not receive the protections of the California Labor Code). *Jan-Pro*, No. 17-16096, ECF Dkt. No. 13 (Appellant's Opening Br.) at 6. Jan-Pro drafted the model franchise agreement that the intermediary master franchisees have the cleaning workers (referred to by Jan-Pro as "unit franchisees") sign, which classifies the workers as independent contractors. *Id.* at 7. Under this model agreement, the workers are required to provide cleaning services and, while doing so, to hold themselves out to the public as being part of Jan-Pro, including by wearing "Jan-Pro Cleaning Systems" branded clothing. *Id.* at 7. The workers are barred, under the terms of the agreement, from performing janitorial work other than through Jan-Pro, or risk termination. *Id.* at 8.

Petitioners Juan Aguilar and Gloria Roman each paid \$2,800 for their cleaning "franchises," while Petitioner Gerardo Vazquez paid \$9,000. *See Id.* at 8.6 In addition to paying these fees to obtain the cleaning work, they were also required to pay all expenses necessary to provide cleaning services and had numerous deductions taken from their pay (such as

The cleaning workers typically make a down payment up front to pay for their franchise and then pay off the remainder through having additional payments taken out of their monthly checks. *Jan-Pro*, No. 17-16096, ECF Dkt. No. 13 (Appellant's Opening Br.) at 7-9.

insurance fees, "royalty fees", and "management" fees). These deductions cut Petitioners' earning to as little as \$6 or less per hour. *Id.* at 8-9.

### PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

In May 2017, the United States District Court for the Northern District of California granted Jan-Pro's motion for summary judgment, ruling that Jan-Pro could not be Petitioners' employer and thus could not be liable for the alleged wage and hour violations. *See Roman v. Jan-Pro Franchising International, Inc.* (N.D. Cal. May 24, 2017) 2017 WL 2265447. In so ruling, the District Court considered the California wage test "with a gloss of" *Patterson v. Domino's Pizza* (2014) 60 Cal.4<sup>th</sup> 474. *Roman*, 2017 WL 2265447, at \*3. Petitioners appealed the decision to the Ninth Circuit. *See Vazquez v. Jan-Pro Franchising International, Inc.* (9th Cir.) No. 17-16096 (docketed May 26, 2017).

Shortly after the parties completed briefing in the appeal, this Court issued its landmark decision in *Dynamex*. The Ninth Circuit ordered supplemental briefing addressing the effect of the decision on this case. *Jan-Pro*, 923 F. 3d at 579. Jan-Pro only devoted two pages of its sixteen-page supplemental brief to the effect of *Dynamex* and "principally" argued that *Dynamex* should not be applied retroactively, while Petitioners devoted their briefing to explaining why the Court's decision in *Dynamex* applied and compelled reversal of the District Court's ruling. *Id.*; *see generally Vazquez v. Jan-Pro Franchising International, Inc.* (9th Cir.) No. 17-16096, ECF Dkt. No. 54-1 (Appellant's Supp. Br.).

The Ninth Circuit agreed with Petitioners that *Dynamex* applies retroactively and to the claims in this case. The Court reversed the summary judgment decision based upon the application of the ABC test announced in *Dynamex*. *Jan-Pro*, 923 F. 3d at 580 ("there can be no question that the District Court's order granting summary judgment to Jan-

Pro must be reversed"). The Ninth Circuit held that, in accordance with the basic legal tenet that judicial decisions be given retroactive effect absent an exception, this Court's decision in *Dynamex* should be applied retroactively and rejected Jan-Pro's argument that to apply *Dynamex* retroactively would violate Jan-Pro's due process rights. *Id.* at 586-89. The Ninth Circuit also reversed the District Court's determination that a *Patterson* "gloss" should be applied to the wage claims in this case, *id.* at 594-96 and held that the ABC test enunciated in *Dynamex* should be applied to determine whether Petitioners were employees of Jan-Pro, despite the fact that Jan-Pro describes itself as a "franchisor" and despite the fact that Jan-Pro does not contract directly with Petitioners. *Id.* at 595-96 (citing *Depianti v. Jan-Pro Franchising International, Inc.* (2013) 465 Mass. 607). Jan-Pro petitioned for rehearing.

On September 24, 2019, upon Respondent's petition for rehearing, the Ninth Circuit withdrew its opinion, only to the extent it held that *Dynamex* applies retroactively. *Vazquez v. Jan-Pro Franchising International, Inc.* (9th Cir. 2019) 939 F.3d 1045, 1046. Pursuant to California Rule of Court 8.548, the Ninth Circuit certified this question for review to this Court.

In a subsequent order, the Ninth Circuit reinstated "the remaining holdings from [its] now withdrawn opinion." *Vazquez v. Jan-Pro Franchising International, Inc.* (9th Cir. 2019) 939 F. 3d 1050, 1051. Jan-Pro petitioned for rehearing *en banc* with respect to the reinstated portions of the decision, and the Ninth Circuit denied that petition. *Jan-Pro*, No. 17-16096, ECF Dkt. 126 (denying petition for rehearing en banc on Nov. 7, 2019).

Thereafter, the parties requested that this Court take up issues in addition to the retroactivity issue certified to this Court. The parties jointly requested that the Court address whether *Dynamex* applies to franchisees

claiming misclassification. *See* Joint letter (submitted Oct. 25, 2019). Petitioners separately requested that the Court also address whether *Dynamex* applies to the question of joint employment and whether *Dynamex* applies to claims brought under Cal. Lab. Code § 2802 (the primary claim in this case). *See* Petitioners' letter (submitted Oct. 25, 2019).

On November 20, 2019, this Court granted review of the Ninth Circuit's Certification Order and agreed to "decide the questions of California law presented in [the] matter." Order granting review (Nov. 20, 2019) (emphasis supplied). The Court did not clarify further the exact scope of the certified questions. Petitioners therefore urge the Court to address the additional important issues of California law they have suggested and have included them in this brief.

### **LEGAL BACKGROUND**

While the Ninth Circuit's Certification Order notes that the Court has not yet expressly spoken on whether *Dynamex* applies retroactively, louder still are the myriad of other "issues involved" in this case on which this Court has not yet spoken. These issues have spawned unsettled law and have injected serious unpredictability in wage and hour litigation in California in the aftermath of *Dynamex*.

With respect to the question of whether *Dynamex* applies retroactively, all courts to consider the question to date have concluded that it does. *See Gonzales v. San Gabriel Transit, Inc.* (2019) 40 Cal. 5th 1131, 1156<sup>7</sup>; *Garcia v. Border Transportation Group, LLC* (2018) 28 Cal. App. 5th 558, 572 n. 12; *Yeomans v. World Fin. Grp. Ins. Agency, Inc.*, (N.D.

This Court has granted review of the decision in *Gonzales*, though the case has been stayed pending the Court's resolution of this case. *See Gonzales v. San Gabriel Transit* (Cal.) S259027.

Cal. Nov. 6, 2019) 2019 WL 5789273, at \*4 n.1; *Valadez v. CSX Intermodal Terminals, Inc.* (N.D. Cal. Mar. 15, 2019) 2019 WL 1975460, at \*5; *Henry v. Central Freight Lines* (E.D. Cal. June 13, 2019) 2019 WL 2465330; *Juarez v. Jani-King of California Inc.* (N.D. Cal. Dec. 14, 2018) Civ. A. No. 09-3495, Dkt. 240; *Johnson v. VCG-IS, LLC* (Super Ct. Cal. July 18, 2018) Case No. 30-2015-00802813-CU-CR-CXC, Ruling on Motion in Limine, at \*1–2 (Ex. A to Petitioners' Separate letter, submitted October 25, 2019).

In contrast, courts considering the questions of *Dynamex*'s applicability to varying wage and hour claims in irregular employment contexts have charted a more complicated path. In the wake of *Dynamex*, California state and federal courts, California state legislators, and California workers and employers have debated whether *Dynamex* and the ABC test adopted therein applies to wage and hour disputes brought forth under varying law and in varying workplace structures. These questions include several questions that lie at the heart of this case: whether *Dynamex* applies to "franchisors"; whether *Dynamex* applies to "joint employment" claims (where the worker does not contract directly with the alleged employer); and whether *Dynamex* applies to claims brought under Labor Code § 2802 (which this Court did not address in *Dynamex* itself because the parties there did not address it). This case thus raises an ideal opportunity to address these significant unsettled issues.

Moreover, the questions are of urgent importance to the State of California, as evidenced by public debate and the rapid development of the law. While courts have whittled away at application of the ABC test as set forth in *Dynamex*, the California state legislature endorsed the test as a central tool in combatting labor standard violations, in sweeping legislation that codified and expanded the application of *Dynamex*.

On September 10, 2019, the California state legislature passed 2019 California Assembly Bill No. 5 California 2019-2020 Regular Session, ("A.B. 5"), which explicitly codifies *Dynamex* with the intent to broaden the definition of "employee" to a wider pool of workers, so that more workers may be extended the benefits and protections of California employment law. Both "gig economy" companies and franchisors campaigned for, and were denied, legislative carve-outs to A.B. 5. *See*, *e.g.*, Coalition Letter to California State Legislature, International Franchise Association ("IFA"), Aug. 27, 2019 ("We are writing to request . . . [an amendment that] will provide an exception for legitimate franchisors and franchisees"); Josh Eidelson, *Gig Firms Ask California To Rescue Them From Court Ruling*, BLOOMBERG, Aug. 6, 2018. (recounting gig economy lobbying the legislature for an exemption from the "ABC" test); Alicia Fernández Campbell, *Uber and Lyft Just Lost Another Battle in California*, VOX, Aug. 30, 2019. (lobbying efforts of gig economy companies rejected).

(emphasis supplied.)

<sup>8</sup> Section 1 of the bill states:

<sup>(</sup>d) It is the intent of the Legislature in enacting this act to include provisions that would codify the decision of the California Supreme Court in Dynamex and would clarify the decision's application in state law.

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