NO. S258191

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

GERARDO VAZQUEZ, GLORIA ROMAN, and JUAN AGUILAR, on behalf of themselves and all others similarly situated,

Petitioners,

VS.

JAN-PRO FRANCHISING INTERNATIONAL, INC. *Respondent.*

Review of Certified Question from the Ninth Circuit (Ninth Circuit Case No. 17-16096)

On Appeal from N.D. Cal. Case No. 3:16-cv-05961

Before the Honorable William Alsup

RESPONDENT JAN-PRO FRANCHISING INTERNATIONAL, INC.'S ANSWERING BRIEF

JEFFREY M. ROSIN
O'HAGAN MEYER PLLC
111 HUNTINGTON AVENUE
SUITE 2860
BOSTON, MA 02199-7733
TELEPHONE: (617) 843-6800
FACSIMILE: (617) 843-6810
E-MAIL:
JROSIN@OHAGANMEYER.COM

JASON H. WILSON (SBN 140269)

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

Parsing the wage orders' history and definitions, and considering the IWC's broad authority and legislative purpose, this Court carefully concluded that "[t]o employ, then, under the IWC's definition, has three alternative definitions. It means: (a) to exercise control over the wages, hours or working conditions, or (b) to suffer or permit to work, or (c) to engage, thereby creating a common law employment relationship." (*Martinez*, *supra*, 49 Cal.4th 35 at p. 64.) Thus, this Court clarified the wage order definitions of "employer" within the confines of legislative intent and IWC authority, and concomitantly, who may be liable for violation of those wage orders.

In *Dynamex*, dovetailing with the analysis in *Martinez*, this Court reasoned, "the suffer or permit to work standard does not apply only to the joint employer context, but also can apply to the question whether . . . a worker who is not an 'admitted employee' of a distinct primary employer should nonetheless be considered an employee . . ."—specifically, where that worker allegedly is misclassified as an independent contractor in the direct employer context. (*Dynamex*, *supra*, 4 Cal.5th at pp. 944-45.) This Court thus held that the "suffer or permit" standard may be applied *separately* to the question of worker classification using the ABC Test. But it made clear that the ABC Test did not redefine the scope of the "suffer or permit" standard used in the joint employment context set forth in *Martinez*. (*Id*.) And for good reason—as discussed below, the ABC Test simply does not make sense in a joint employment framework.

The panel in *Vazquez*, however, mistook this Court's holding in *Dynamex*, and concluded that this Court had "expanded the definition of 'suffer or permit' for California wage order cases" as a general matter. (*Vazquez*, *supra*, 923 F.3d at p. 593; *see also* Pet. Br. at p. 37.) Not so—such a reading would compel the conclusion that this Court partially overturned *Martinez*. But as multiple appellate courts already have found, the opinions in *Dynamex* and *Martinez* are entirely reconcilable—because the ABC Test does not apply to a joint employment context, even where misclassification is alleged.

b. The California Appellate Decisions in *Curry*and *Henderson* Conclude the ABC Test Is
Inapplicable to Joint Employment.

Two recent California appellate decisions have read *Dynamex* properly and held "the Dynamex ABC test was not intended to apply to joint employer claims." (*Henderson*, *supra*, 40 Cal.App.5th at p. 1129; *see also Curry*, *supra*, 23 Cal.App.5th at p. 314 [concluding "it does not appear

that the Supreme Court intended for the 'ABC' test to be applied in joint employment cases."].)

Both *Henderson* and *Curry* involve a worker's wage-and-hour claims against non-hiring franchisor (or licensor), Equilon Enterprises LLC (d/b/a Shell Oil Products US ["Shell"]).⁷ In *Curry*, the plaintiff was recruited to manage a Shell-branded gas station operated by a limited liability company called ARS. ARS's contract and lease with Shell to run the gas stations assigned daily personnel management and operations to ARS. (*Curry*, *supra*, 23 Cal.App.5th at pp. 294-95.) In *Henderson*, the plaintiff managed a Shell-branded gas station operated by Danville Petroleum, Inc., which contracted with Shell under the same agreement at issue in *Curry*. (*Henderson*, *supra*, 40 Cal.App.5th at p. 1115.) Both plaintiffs alleged Shell was liable for their various wage-and-hour claims as a joint employer.

Both the *Curry* and *Henderson* courts, post-*Dynamex*, properly applied the same analysis—the standard prescribed by *Martinez*. As the *Curry* court explained: "The high court concluded 'the IWC's wage orders do generally define the employment relationship, and thus who may be liable." (*Curry*, *supra*, 23 Cal.App.5th at p. 301 [analyzing the three "to employ" standards set forth in *Martinez*]; *see also Henderson*, *supra*, 40 Cal.App.5th at p. 1117-1119 [same].)

Curry and Henderson rejected using the ABC Test to define whether Shell was the plaintiff's employer (although Curry analyzed the ABC Test out of an abundance of caution). Their reasoning rested on both policy and analytical grounds. The Henderson court concluded unequivocally "that the ABC Test in Dynamex does not fit analytically with and was not

⁷ Petitioners agree the Shell entities were "akin to franchises." Pet. Br. p. 39 n. 26.

intended to apply to claims of joint employer liability." (*Henderson*, *supra*, 40 Cal.App.5th at p. 1125 [emphasis added].) For example, it reasoned, Prong B questions whether "the worker performs work that is outside the usual course of the hiring entity's business." (*Dynamex*, *supra*, 4 Cal.5th at p. 917.) But in a joint employment context, a worker

already performs work that furthers the interests of the primary employer and is protected by wage and hour laws. Thus, asking whether that employee's work is 'outside the usual course of business' of a secondary employer makes little sense if one wants to determine whether the secondary employer has suffered or permitted the employee to work for them. The relevant inquiry is instead whether the secondary entity has the power to control the details of the employee's working conditions, or indeed, the power to prevent the work from occurring in the first place.

(*Henderson*, *supra*, 40 Cal.App.5th at p. 1129 [quoting *Martinez*, *supra*, 49 Cal.4th at p. 70]; *see also Curry*, *supra*, 23 Cal.App.5th at p. 314 ["In the joint employment context, the alleged employee is already considered an employee of the primary employer; the issue is whether the employee is also an employee of the alleged secondary employer."]⁸.)

This analysis applies equally where misclassification is alleged in a joint employer framework, even though *Curry* and *Henderson* are not misclassification cases. Even where a worker is misclassified, a primary entity exists to whom the worker directly renders services. The ABC Test focuses on this primary entity by placing the burden of proving a worker is not an employee on the "hiring entity"—the entity analogous to a primary employer in a misclassification context. If an entity-defendant is (1) a "hiring entity", and (2) has misclassified the worker under the standards set

⁸ The *Curry* Court also concluded, under the ABC Test's Prong B, that Shell (as a franchisor/licensor) was not in the business of operating fueling stations. (*Curry*, *supra*, 23 Cal.App.5th at p. 315.)

forth in the ABC Test, then that entity necessarily becomes the "primary employer" and the worker is "an admitted employee . . . subject to the protection of applicable labor laws and wage orders." (*Henderson*, *supra*, 40 Cal.App.5th at p. 1128; *see also Curry*, *supra*, 23 Cal.App.5th at p. 313 [under joint employment theory, worker is "already considered an employee of a primary employer"].)

As discussed above, Petitioners concede that this is a joint employment case that is contrary to *Henderson* and *Curry*. Pet. Br. pp. 38-40. And counsel for Petitioners, who also represented the *Henderson* plaintiff, repeated this concession in the Petition to this Court to review the *Henderson* decision. There, counsel acknowledged that in the *Vazquez* opinion, "the Ninth Circuit agreed that the ABC Test from *Dynamex* applies in the 'tiered' or joint employer context (and rejected the reasoning in *Curry*, 923 F.3d at 599)." (*See* RJN, Ex. B, at p. 9 [Petn. For Review, *Henderson v. Equilon Enterprises, Inc.* (Nov. 18, 2019, No. S259202)].)

This Court need not address whether *Dynamex* applies in a joint employment context, as California law (articulated by *Henderson* and *Curry*) is clear and settled that it does not. But for this reason, the Ninth Circuit's contrary, erroneous opinion should compel this Court to decline to answer the certified question and return the case for further proceedings under settled California law.

3. The Ninth Circuit Erred in Rejecting Patterson.

In addition to misinterpreting *Martinez* and *Dynamex*, and disregarding *Curry*, the *Vazquez* panel erroneously rejected the application of this Court's binding precedent in *Patterson*, *supra*, 60 Cal.4th 474.

In *Patterson*, this Court recognized franchising's fundamental attributes affect how to analyze franchisor liability:

[a] franchisor, which can have thousands of stores located far apart, imposes comprehensive and meticulous

standards for marketing its trademarked brand and operating its franchises in a uniform way. To this extent, the franchisor controls the enterprise. However, the franchisee retains autonomy as a manager and employer. It is the franchisee who implements the operational standards on a day-to-day basis, hires and fires store employees, and regulates workplace behavior. Analysis of the franchise relationship . . . must accommodate these contemporary realities.

(*Patterson*, *supra*, 60 Cal.4th at p. 478.) Understanding that "[f]ranchising is different," *id.* at p. 488, and that legal analysis of the franchise relationship "must accommodate" the businesses' realities, *id.* at 478, is referred to as the "*Patterson* gloss." The *Patterson* gloss is a lens through which to assess indirect franchisor liability, so that the very attributes of a franchise are not mistakenly conflated with a franchisor's "control" over the franchisee sufficient to justify assessing liability. For example, as a matter of course, franchisors will provide a formatted business plan, operations manual, and training; will require a consistency of uniforms, supplies, and décor; and will also have oversight to ensure quality and its standards are followed.

Here, the district court in *Vazquez* "applie[d] the *Martinez* standard, with the gloss of *Patterson* when considering the common-law definition of employment, and f[ound] that plaintiff unit franchisees [did] not raise[] a genuine dispute of material fact preventing the award of summary judgment for Jan-Pro[.]" ER 0044.

Reversing the district court, however, the *Vazquez* panel rejected the *Patterson* gloss as "extensive dicta," and, relying on superficial policy distinctions, held that *Patterson's* relevance was limited to tort cases, and

that it has no bearing on determining employee status in wage order cases. (*Vazquez*, *supra*, 923 F.3d 575 at p. 594.) It accordingly held that no *Patterson* gloss was applicable. (*Id.*) This was error.

Indeed, a different panel of the Ninth Circuit recently properly applied *Patterson* in a California wage order case (the very type of case in which the *Vazquez* panel held *Patterson* did not apply) in *Salazar*, *supra*, 944 F.3d 1024. There, the Court analyzed whether McDonald's Corporation was a joint employer of its franchisee's employee in a wage-and-hour dispute—using the test set forth in *Martinez* with a *Patterson* gloss. Applying the IWC's first definition of "to employ" identified in *Martinez*, "control over the wages, hours, or working conditions," the *Salazar* Court's analysis tracked *Patterson's* requirements—i.e., by "accommodat[ing]" the "realities" of the "franchise relationship"—and holding: "[a]ny direct control that McDonald's asserts over franchisees' workers is geared toward quality control." (*Id.* at pp. 1029-30.) This was appropriate for a franchisor policing its trademarks, and did not indicate the kind of "day-to-day" control of an employer. (*Ibid.*) Citing *Patterson*, it

⁹ The Ninth Circuit also asserted that this Court had "[r]ecogniz[ed] this conceptual difference," in *Dynamex* when it "favorably cited two Massachusetts decisions that applied the ABC test in the franchise context." [Vazquez, supra, 923 F.3d at p. 595; see also Pet. Br. p. 29.) Not so. The cases were cited for the proposition that Prongs B or C could be susceptible to summary judgment. Neither case examined joint employment, and therefore *Dynamex* cannot be taken to mean that the unique aspects of franchising have no place in analyzing joint employer liability. And neither case examined whether a franchisor was a "hiring entity" (a phrase unique to California law).

¹⁰ Notably this holding also contravened the Georgia and Massachusetts decisions *in this same case* under *Massachusetts law* that applied a *Patterson*-like gloss in "recogniz[ing]" the "inherent[] . . . overlap" between a franchisor's business model and a franchisee's business, which the *Vazquez* panel rejected. (*Jan-Pro Franchising Internat., Inc. v. Depianti* (2011) 310 Ga.App. 265, 269].)

reasoned, "[f]ranchisors like McDonald's need the freedom to 'impose[] comprehensive and meticulous standards for marketing [their] trademarked brand and operating [their] franchises in a uniform way." (*Ibid.* [citing *Patterson*, *supra*, 60 Cal.4th at p. 478].)

Applying the second IWC definition of "to employ," "to suffer or permit to work," the *Salazar* court looked to the Court of Appeal's binding decision in *Curry*. Consistent with *Martinez*, *Curry* had treated this prong as "the defendant's knowledge of and failure to prevent the work from occurring" and held that "the responsibility for hiring, firing, and assignment of daily tasks belonged to the lessee/operator," and not the franchisor, Shell. The *Salazar* court found this instructive and consistent with *Patterson*'s guidance that "[a] franchisor . . . becomes potentially liable for actions of the franchisee's employees, only if it has retained or assumed a general right of control over factors such as hiring, direction, supervision, discipline, discharge, and relevant day-to-day aspects of the workplace behavior of the franchisee's employees." (*Salazar*, *supra*, 944 F.3d at p. 1030 [citing *Patterson*, *supra*, 60 Cal.4th at pp. 497-98].)

Finally, applying the third IWC definition of "to employ," "to engage, thereby creating a common law employment relationship," the *Salazar* court again properly looked to *Patterson*, noting "*Patterson* established a connection between the 'control' and 'common law' definitions of employer in the franchise context." (*Salazar*, *supra*, 944 F.3d at p. 1032.) Relying on *Patterson*'s conclusions that a "the 'means and manner' [of control]" exercised by "comprehensive [franchise] system alone" cannot constitute the kind of "control" needed to support employer liability, but "[i]nstead, in the franchise context, a franchisor also must 'retain[] or assume[] a general right of control over factors such as hiring, direction, supervision, discipline, discharge, and relevant day-to-day aspects of the workplace behavior of the franchisee's employees," to be

liable, *ibid*. [quoting *Patterson*, *supra*, 60 Cal.4th at p. 478], the Court concluded McDonald's could not be classified as an employer of its franchisees' workers because its "exercise of control over the means and manner of work performed at its franchises is geared specifically toward quality control and maintenance of brand standards" (*Id*.)

As can be gleaned from *Salazar's* application of *Patterson* in a wage and hour action in the franchise context, because Prong A of *Dynamex*'s ABC Test requires that the worker be "free from the control" of the franchisor in connection with the "performance of work" (*Dynamex*, *supra*, 4 Cal.5th at pp. 916-917), applying the ABC Test to the franchise relationship would overturn the franchise model itself, where "exercise of control over the means and manner of work performed . . . geared specifically toward quality control and maintenance of brand standards . . ." is a defining characteristic of the franchise relationship. (*See Salazar*, *supra*, 944 F.3d at p. 1032.)

Rather than confront the conflict with *Patterson* (and, as discussed below, state and federal regulations and trademark law) in applying the ABC Test to a franchising relationship, the *Vazquez* panel, while acknowledging Prong A's requirements and the disjunctive nature of the ABC Test, nonetheless erroneously concluded that "[t]he ABC Test... eschew[s] reliance on control over the performance of the worker as a necessary condition for an employment relationship..." and thus "the franchise context does not alter the *Dynamex* analysis, and the district court need not look to *Patterson*..." (*Vazquez*, *supra*, 923 F.3d at 595.)

Exacerbating this fundamental error, the *Vazquez* panel offered additional "guidance" on applying Prong B of the ABC Test to franchisors, including that the franchisor may be liable if the franchisees are "necessary . . . to the [franchisor's] business," "are continuously used by the [franchisor]," or if "the [franchisor] describes itself" as in the same business

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